IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CEDRIC TYRONE SMALLWOOD,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-1130

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BARBARA J. BUSHARIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 71780 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8500 barbara.busharis@flpd2.com ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Court accepted discretionary review of *Smallwood v. State*, 61 So. 3d 448 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011) based on the First District Court of Appeal's certification of the following question as being of great public importance:

Does the holding in *United States v. Robinson*, 414 U.S. 218, 94 S. Ct. 467, 38 L. Ed. 2d 427 (1973), allow a police officer to search through photographs contained within a cell phone which is on an arrestee's person at the time of a valid arrest, notwithstanding that there is no reasonable belief that the cell phone contains evidence of any crime?

The Record on Appeal contains five volumes, and references to the record

will begin with the volume number in roman numerals, followed by the appropriate

page number, e.g. (R. I, 21).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cedric Tyrone Smallwood was charged with armed robbery and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon by Information dated March 3, 2008. (R. I, 13-14.) Proceedings were held in the Circuit Court for the Fourth Judicial Circuit, Duval County. Preliminary hearings, including a hearing on Defendant's Motion to Suppress Cell Phone Images, took place before Judge Mark H. Mahon, who ruled that photographs the arresting officer had observed during a warrantless search of Mr. Smallwood's cell phone would be admissible because the photographs were viewed shortly after Mr. Smallwood was placed under arrest. (R. I, 49-51; R. II, 211-213; R. II, 242.) Defendant's trial and sentencing were conducted by Acting Judge Russell L. Healey; at trial Mr. Smallwood requested that the trial court revisit the earlier rulings in light of the decision in Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 129 S. Ct. 1710, 173 L. Ed. 2d 485 (2009), and that request was denied. (R. IV, 123-124.) Mr. Smallwood was convicted armed robbery and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and sentenced to a total of 65 years in prison. (R. I, 119-120.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The issue of the cell phone images on Mr. Smallwood's phone first arose as his case was going to trial on March 11, 2009. (R. II, 194.) The assistant state attorney told the court that the arresting officer had informed him just the day before that the officer had conducted a search of the Defendant's cell phone incident to the Defendant's arrest, and that the phone contained photos of the Defendant, his girlfriend, substantial amounts of cash, and firearms. (R. II, 195.) The state immediately informed defense counsel and asked the arresting officer to prepare a search warrant for the phone. (R. II, 195.) When the warrant was issued, the state attorney viewed the pictures and decided that they were relevant to the case. (R. II, 196.)

In response to an oral motion to suppress, the state argued the cell phone could be searched without a warrant incident to the Defendant's arrest. (R. II, 198-202.) The defense argued that the arrest and the robbery were separated in time and place, so that there was no "freshness, hot chase, no kind of close nexus...." (R. II, 206.) The defense also argued that in previous cases upholding the warrantless search of data on a phone, the phone itself had been used in the crime, for example, to arrange a drug transaction. (R. II, 207.) The defense further argued that cell phone users have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the information that is stored on their phones. (R. II, 207-208.)

The trial court analogized the phone to a locked box in a defendant's vehicle at the time of an arrest, and ruled that the search of the cell phone was permissible. (R. II, 212-213.)

On April 14, 2009, following a continuance, the court heard additional argument on the issue. The court did not hear any testimony, but heard a statement from the deposition of Officer Brown that had been taken after the previous hearing: "He says, I looked on it because I was looking to see if he took any pictures of — that would relate to the crime, that he knew people sometimes do that." (R. II, 227-228.) The defense again argued that Mr. Smallwood had an expectation of privacy relating to the photos. (R. II, 227.) The defense also argued that none of the established exceptions to the warrant requirement were present in this case. (R. II, 228-230.) The state maintained its position that the search of the camera had been a lawful search incident to arrest. (R. II, 235.) The court again denied the motion to suppress. (R. II, 242.)

Defendant's trial began on April 22, 2009. (R. IV, 116.) With the exception of the cell phone images, most of the evidence at trial was admitted by stipulation and without objection. (R. IV, 119-120.)

An employee of the Price Right Food Store in Duval County described being robbed by a man holding a gun on the morning of January 24, 2008. (R. IV, 159-175.) Although the man wore a mask, the employee believed he recognized him and said as much to the 911 operator who took the employee's call after the man left. (R. IV, 179-183.) The employee identified the many as the Defendant and stated that he recognized the Defendant's voice. (R. IV, 184-185.) He also identified a pair of gloves as the gloves the individual wore during the robbery. (R. IV, 190.)

A regular customer of the Price Right Food Store named Keith Seay testified that he went to the store on the morning of January 24, 2008. (R. IV, 241-243.) On the way, he encountered an individual he knew as "Dooley" coming through a nearby park. (R. IV, 244-245.) "Dooley" was wearing gloves, a dark jacket, and dark pants. (R. IV, 246.) As Mr. Seay continued walking to he store he turned once and looked back towards "Dooley," and noticed that "Dooley" was no longer wearing gloves. (R. IV, 247-248.) There was a trash can along the path where the two had passed each other. (R. IV, 248.) "Dooley" was not wearing a mask when Mr. Seay saw him, and was not carrying anything. (R. IV, 261.) When Mr. Seay got to the store, the employee told him that "Dooley" had just robbed him. (R. IV, 249 & 258-259.) A pair of gloves was later located in a trash can in the park; the gloves were photographed and taken into evidence. (R. IV, 277-279.)

Officer Ike Brown, a patrol officer with the Jacksonville County Sheriff's Office, responded to the store, where he learned that one of the witnesses had given the name "Dooley" as a suspect. (R. IV, 282-284.) Officer Brown recognized the nickname "Dooley" as an individual he knew; he did not know the individual's legal name at the time, but learned it by speaking with "Dooley's" mother, and identified the Defendant as "Dooley." (R. IV, 285-286.)

Approximately two weeks later, after missing several other appointments to meet, the Defendant met with Officer Brown in a Popeye's Chicken restaurant and was promptly arrested. (R. IV, 287-288, 295.)

Mr. Smallwood was placed in handcuffs inside the store and taken out to Officer Brown's car, where he was patted down. (R. IV, 288, 295.) When he patted the Defendant down, he found a cell phone in the Defendant's pants pocket. (R. IV, 288 & 292.) He looked "in" the phone, he said, for the following two reasons: "One, to see if it was the same one he had been calling me from, and to

see if, in fact, did he have any pictures or anything that might be evidence to the

crime." (R. IV, 288.)

Officer Brown did not claim that he had any particular reason for believing

evidence of a crime might be found on the phone:

Q: In your training and experience with Jacksonville

Sheriff's Officer – with the Sheriff's Office, is it unusual for a suspect, any suspect to take photos or have videos of them that are of evidentiary value?

A: No, it's not unusual.

Q: In going through the phone, did you find anything to be of evidentiary value?

A: Yes, ma'am, I did.

Q: And what did you find in that phone?

A: I found several photos in the phone, photos of Mr.

Smallwood holding large amounts of cash, there was a gun, jewelry, stuff like that.

(R. IV, 288-289.)

Officer Brown then identified the photos he had viewed on the phone. They

included a photo of money and a gun; a photo of Mr. Smallwood's girlfriend; and a

photo of Mr. Smallwood. (R. IV, 290-292.) Scrolling through the phone, Officer

Brown stated that the photos had all been taken within a few days following the

robbery. (R. IV, 290-292.)

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the robbery charge, finding that Mr. Smallwood had actually possessed a firearm during the crime. (R. V, 453-454.) The jury heard a stipulation that Mr. Smallwood had a previous felony conviction and was charged on the elements of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R. V, 455-458.) The jury returned a verdict of guilty on that charge as well, with another finding of actual possession. (R. V, 461-462.)

Sentencing took place on May 4, 2009. (R. II, 245.) Defense counsel stressed Mr. Smallwood's age and lack of significant prior convictions, and asked for a sentence near the minimum mandatory sentence of 54.75 months, as calculated by the sentencing guidelines. (R. I, 124-125; R. II, 249.)

The court stated that the minimum mandatory sentence "made no sense" and added that he had been surprised the jury took so long to convict, especially in light of the photographs that had been taken from the cell phone. (R. II, 252-253.) Mr. Smallwood was sentenced to a prison term of 15 years, with a three-year minimum mandatory sentence, for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon; and to a consecutive term of 50 years, with a ten year minimum mandatory sentence, for armed robbery. (R. II, 255.)

8

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed Mr. Smallwood's convictions and sentence on April 29, 2011, holding that the search of Mr. Smallwood's cell phone was a valid search incident to arrest. The court certified the following question as being of great public importance: Does *United States v. Robinson*, 414 U.S. 218, 94 S. Ct. 467, 38 L. Ed. 2d 427 (1973), allow a police officer to search through photographs contained within a cell phone which is on an arrestee's person at the time of a valid arrest, notwithstanding that there is no reasonable belief that the cell phone contains evidence of any crime?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered in the negative. When there is no reason to believe that a cell phone contains evidence of a crime, it is an unreasonable intrusion for a police officer to search through photographs stored on the phone at the time of a valid arrest.

The "search incident to arrest" exception to the warrant requirement is grounded in concerns for officer safety and the preservation of evidence. These twin foundations of the exception were set out in *Chimel v. California*, 395 U.S. 752, 89 S. Ct. 2034, 23 L. Ed. 2d 685 (1969), and reaffirmed in *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332, 129 S. Ct. 1710, 173 L. Ed. 2d 485 (2009).

The holding of *United States v. Robinson*, 414 U.S. 218, 234, 94 S. Ct. 467, 38 L. Ed. 2d 427 (1973), that a search "of the person" incident to arrest allows a full search of the person, does not justify searching a cell phone merely because it is found on or near a suspect's physical person. *Robinson* explains that a full search of the person is reasonable at the time of arrest, but other cases, including *Bell v. Wolfish*, 441 U.S. 520, 559, 99 S. Ct. 1861, 60 L. Ed. 2d 447 (1979) , make clear that other types of searches must be analyzed on their own unique facts. Put

differently, the fact that a search takes place when a person is arrested weighs heavily in determining whether the search was reasonable, but an arrest is not an open door to every aspect of a suspect's private life.

Many courts analyzing the search and seizure of cell phones or similar devices have focused on whether the phones are "containers." This places inappropriate emphasis on superficial similarities between information stored on cell phones and earlier, non-digital information storage. The proper analysis is not how a cell phone is like a purse or planner, but whether the need for information stored on a phone outweighs the invasion of privacy the search entails. When there is no reason to believe the cell phone contains evidence of a particular crime, the breadth of information potentially available, and thus the breadth of the invasion of privacy, a search of the phone is unreasonable and thus unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

I. SEARCHING IMAGES ON A CELL PHONE WHEN THERE IS NO REASONABLE BELIEF THAT THE CELL PHONE CONTAINS EVIDENCE OF A CRIME EXCEEDS THE PERMISSIBLE SCOPE OF A SEARCH INCIDENT TO ARREST.

Standard of review:

Under Article I, section 12 of the Florida Constitution, the right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures is to be construed "in conformity with the 4th Amendment to the United States Constitution, as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court." This appeal presents the legal issue of the scope of the decision in *United States v. Robinson*, 414 U.S. 218, 94 S. Ct. 467, 38 L. Ed. 2d 427 (1973), and whether that decision controls in cases involving the search incident to arrest of a suspect's cell phone.

Argument:

This case presents the issue of whether a valid arrest allows the police to mine the data on the arrestee's phone in the hope of obtaining incriminating evidence, even when the police have no reason to believe evidence will actually be found. The First District Court of Appeal noted its concern that "giving officers unbridled discretion to rummage through at will the entire contents of one's cell phone even where there is no basis for believing evidence of the crime of arrest will be found on the phone, creates a serious and recurring threat to the privacy of countless individuals." *Smallwood v. State*, 61 So. 3d 448, 462 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011). The appellate court held it was constrained, however, by the holding in *United States v. Robinson*, 414 U.S. 218, 234, 94 S. Ct. 467, 38 L. Ed. 2d 427 (1973), that containers on the person of an arrested citizen can be searched without any additional justification other than the fact of arrest. *See Smallwood*, 61 So. 3d at 448. As explained below, while *Robinson* may permit the seizure of a cell phone found on the person, this Court is not required to read it so broadly as to encompass a wide-ranging intrusion into all of the data stored on a phone that has been seized.

This Court noted in its decision in *Jenkins v. State*, 978 So. 2d 116, 126 (Fla. 2008) that "a search incident to arrest is still subject to a standard of reasonableness." A public "strip search," for example, is not a reasonable search incident to arrest. *See id.* at 126-127 (citations omitted). This principle is consistent with the United States Supreme Court's pronouncement in *Robinson* that

"It is the fact of the lawful arrest which establishes the authority to search, and we hold that in the case of a lawful custodial arrest a full search of the person is not only an exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment, but is also a 'reasonable' search under that Amendment." 414 U.S. at 235. To the extent there is any tension in these authorities when applied to the warrantless search of data on a cell phone, it arises in the context of whether looking at the data is a search of the person.

The U.S. Supreme Court, and this Court in *Jenkins*, recognized the importance of context in determining what constitutes a reasonable search: "The test of reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment is not capable of precise definition or mechanical application. In each case it requires a balancing of the need for the particular search against the invasion of personal rights that the search entails. Courts must consider the scope of the particular intrusion, the manner in which it is conducted, the justification for initiating it, and the place in which it is conducted." *Bell v. Wolfish*, 441 U.S. 520, 559, 99 S. Ct. 1861, 60 L. Ed. 2d 447 (1979) (analyzing the strip search of inmates in a federal detention center based on less than probable cause) (cited in *Jenkins*, 978 So. 2d at 126).

In *Robinson*, the Supreme Court reversed a decision of the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit that had invalidated the search of a crumpled pack of cigarettes found in the defendant's coat pocket after the defendant was arrested for driving with a revoked license. 414 U.S. at 223-224. Based on the rationale for allowing a search incident to arrest set forth in *Chimel v. California*, 395 U.S. 752, 89 S. Ct. 2034, 23 L. Ed.2d 685 (1969) — the need to preserve evidence, and the need to disarm suspects for the safety of arresting officers – the appellate court had held that the search should have been limited to a protective "frisk" of the defendant's clothing to remove any weapons that might have been located there. 414 U.S. at 227. Because there was no further evidence of the crime of arrest (driving with a revoked license) to be found on the defendant's person, there was no reason to extend the search further. Id. The court of appeals, in essence, would have limited the search of the defendant to what would be permissible in a *Terry* stop based on less than probable cause. *See id.* (citing *Terry*) v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed.2d 889 (1968)).

The *Robinson* Court thus decided that a permissible search of the "person" during a search incident to arrest extended beyond a protective frisk, and instead encompassed a "full search of the person." *Id.* at 235. This was broad enough to

encompass a crumpled pack of cigarettes, found in a pocket of the defendant's coat, that was found to contain heroin. *Id*.

If a full search of the person does not automatically encompass strip searches, however, then it follows logically that a full search of the person does not automatically include anything a defendant may have on, or near, his person. *See Jenkins*, 978 So. 2d at 126-127 (explaining that the search of the defendant was not a strip search, but a limited search in which officers looked into the defendant's clothing while he remained fully dressed). In other words, the possibility of an unreasonable search still exists, even when a search is incident to arrest. The reasonableness of a particular search must be based on factors unique to that search, rather than on a reflexive determination that it occurred when a defendant was arrested. While *Robinson* is the Supreme Court case that speaks most directly to searches of the person, nothing in *Robinson* requires treating a sophisticated electronic device, capable of storing data such as messages, lists, contact information, photographs, and even websites, like a crumpled pack of cigarettes.

The issue of suppressing cell phone data has had different results in numerous jurisdictions. Some courts have taken the approach that a cell phone is a "container" on the defendant's person, and can thus be searched incident to arrest without restriction. These cases often rely on *New York v. Belton*, 453 U.S. 454, 460-61, 101 S. Ct. 2860, 69 L. Ed.2d 768 (1981) for its holding that a "container" within the passenger compartment of a car can be searched when its occupants are arrested. *See, e.g., United States v. Deans*, 549 F. Supp. 2d 1085, 1093-94 (D. Minn. 2008) (holding a cell phone was a container that could be seized, and its electronic contents); *see also Hawkins v. State*, 704 S.E.2d 886, 891-92 (Ga. App. 2010) (holding that a cell phone was a container, but noting that the search of its contents should be limited).

In contrast, the supreme court of Ohio rejected the "container" approach in *Ohio v. Smith*, 920 N.E. 2d 949 (Oh. 2009). The court in *Smith* pointed out that the *Belton* court had defined "container" as "any object capable of holding another object." *Id.* at 954 (citing *Belton*, 453 U.S. at 460 n.4). It then held specifically that a cell phone, which contains digitized information rather than physical objects, is not a container. *Id.*

The federal courts within Florida have also taken varying approaches to the issue, with emphasis on the connection between the phone and the reason the suspect was arrested rather than on whether a cell phone is a "container." In *United States v. Quintana*, 594 F. Supp. 2d 1291, 1299 (M.D. Fla. 2009), a federal

district court focused on the twin rationales for allowing a search incident to arrest, and concluded that police exceeded the scope of a permissible search by looking at photos on the defendant's phone; the defendant had been stopped for speeding, and was then arrested for driving with a suspended license.

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