IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CEDRIC TYRONE SMALLWOOD,

Petitioner,

Case No. SC11-1130

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

CHRISTINE ANN GUARD ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 173959

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

C. The Exclusionary Rule Should Not Be Applied Under the Facts of This Case.

The United State Supreme Court's decision in Gant is inapplicable to the current case. Further, the exclusionary rule should not be applied under the facts and law applicable to this case.

In <u>Leon</u>, 468 U.S. at 907-908, the Court explained the evolution and purpose of the exclusionary rule. The Court stated:

Fourth Amendment contains no provision expressly precluding the use of evidence obtained in violation of its commands, and an examination of its origin and purposes makes clear that the use of fruits of a past unlawful search or seizure "[works] no new Fourth Amendment wrong." States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 354 (1974). The wrong condemned by the Amendment is "fully accomplished" by the unlawful search or seizure itself, ibid., and the exclusionary rule neither intended nor able to "cure the invasion of defendant's rights which he has already suffered." Stone v. Powell, [428 U.S. 465, 540 (1976)] (WHITE, J., dissenting). The rule thus operates as "a judicially created remedy designed to safeguard Fourth Amendment rights generally through its deterrent effect, rather than a personal constitutional right of the party aggrieved." United States v. Calandra, supra, at 348.

<u>Id.</u> at 906 (emphasis added). The Court continued its discussion as to whether the rule is appropriately applied stating:

Whether the exclusionary sanction is appropriately imposed in a particular case, our decisions make clear, is "an issue separate from the question whether the Fourth Amendment rights of the party seeking to invoke the rule were violated by police conduct." Illinois v. Gates, [462 U.S. 213, 223 (1983)].

Id. (emphasis added). Regarding the application of the rule,
the Court continued:

substantial social costs exacted by exclusionary rule for the vindication of Fourth Amendment rights have long been a source of "Our cases have consistently recognized concern. that unbending application of the exclusionary sanction enforce ideals to of governmental rectitude would impede unacceptably the truthfinding functions of judge and jury." States v. Payner, 447 U.S. 727, 734 (1980). objectionable collateral consequence of this interference with the criminal justice system's truth-finding function is that some quilty defendants may receive go free or sentences as a result of favorable plea bargains. Particularly when law enforcement officers have objective faith acted in good ortransgressions have been minor, the magnitude of the benefit conferred on such guilty defendants offends basic concepts of the criminal justice Stone v. Powell, 428 U.S., at 490. Indiscriminate application of the exclusionary rule, therefore, may well "[generate] disrespect for the law and administration of justice." Id., at 491. Accordingly, "[as] with any remedial

device, the application of the rule has been restricted to those areas where its remedial objectives are thought most efficaciously served."

United States v. Calandra, supra, at 348; see Stone v. Powell, supra, at 486-487; United States v. Janis, 428 U.S. 433, 447 (1976).

Id. at 907 (footnote omitted)(emphasis added). In Coolidge v.
New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 489-90 (1971), the Court stated:

The exclusionary rules were fashioned "to prevent, not to repair," and their target is official misconduct. They are "to compel respect for the constitutional guaranty in the only effectively available way -- by removing the incentive to disregard it." Elkins v. United States, 364 U.S. 206, 217. But it is no part of the policy underlying the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to discourage citizens from aiding to the utmost of their ability in the apprehension of criminals.

In this case, the "officers have acted in objective good faith or their transgressions have been minor, the magnitude of the benefit conferred on such guilty defendants offends basic concepts of the criminal justice system." Leon, 468 U.S. at 907. According to United States Supreme Court precedent, the exclusionary rule is not to be indiscriminately applied. No remedial objective would be served by the application of the rule to the current case. The officer in the current case showed respect for the constitutional protections by securing the arrest warrant and searching only petitioner's person incident to arrest. Further, there is no well delineated case law to provide guidance to an officer in performance of his

duties with respect to review of cellular phone data under facts such as those presented in this case, especially where the information stored on the cellular phone was in no way protected, just as the cigarette pack in Robinson.

Further, should this Court determine that Gant does alter the landscape, contrary to the State's assertions, then Leon's "good faith exception" should apply because the arresting officer's actions demonstrate an objectionably reasonable reliance on well-settled precedent. The United States Supreme Court recently held that Leon's good faith exception to pre-Gant searches of vehicles incident to arrest precluded exclusion of the evidence as an appropriate remedy. See Davis v. United 2419 (2011). States, 131 S. Ct. Based on the reasoning expressed in Davis, this Court should apply the Leon good faith exception to the facts presented in this case.

D. Assuming Error Occurred, Any Error Would Be Harmless Unser the Facts of This Case.

Should this Court find that the photographs should have been suppressed, any error in their admission was harmless under the facts of this case. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of-fact." State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error

affected the verdict." Id. The harmless error test places the burden on the State as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict, or alternatively state, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. See Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1999). If the reviewing court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict, then the error is by definition harmless." Pope v. State, 679 So.2d 710, 714 (Fla. 1996).

testimony presented trial in this case demonstrates that if it was error to admit the photographs, the error was harmless. Fadi Alhsari testified that he worked for his uncle, who owned the Price Right Food Store. (RIV 159.) January 24, 2008, Mr. Alhsari worked his regular shift, which was the morning shift from 8:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. (RIV 161.) When he arrived at the store, Mr. Alhsari noticed a woman waiting for him to open. (RIV 162.) After the woman left, Mr. Alhsari turned on the surveillance cameras and machines. (RIV 163-64.) While Mr. Alhsari undertook these tasks, he heard the doorbell ring. (RIV 163-64.) Mr. Alhsari did not see anyone when he looked, but as he returned to his activities, petitioner jumped across the counter putting a black and silver gun to his

head. (RIV, 163-64, 187.) Petitioner told Mr. Alhsari to get down on the ground and went through Mr. ALhsari's pockets taking his wallet. (RIV 165.) Mr. Alhsari remained on his stomach on the floor during the incident, but he looked back to see what petitioner was doing. (RIV 165.)

Petitioner repeatedly asked "where the money at." (RIV 166.) Mr. Alhsari pointed to the first box where money was kept. (RIV 166.) Petitioner opened the box and took the \$600 to \$800 cash that was in the box. (RIV 167.) Petitioner threw the box onto the ground. (RIV 167.)

Petitioner again asked "where the money at." (RIV 167.)
Mr. Alhsari told petitioner more money was in the drawer to a
white cabinet. (RIV 167-68.) Petitioner found an additional
\$1000 to \$1500 cash in that location. (RIV 168.) Petitioner
again asked "where the money at," but Mr. Alhsari did not tell
him where any more money would be located. (RIV 168.)

Petitioner continued searching and found a .38 Special Magnum, which he took. (RIV 169.) Petitioner then located another cigar box that contained \$13,000 to \$15,000 cash. (RIV 170.) Mr. Alhsari's uncle withdrew the money the previous day because the store cashed checks on Thursdays and Fridays. (RIV 171.) The cash was folded in the box and secured with rubber bands. (RIV 171.)

The State played the video from the store security camera for the jury. (RIV 171-75.) During the video, Mr. Alhsari indicated that petitioner wore gloves, a mask and a hood during the incident. (RIV 173.) Mr. Alhsari described the gloves as "two colored," with a light color on the front and dark on the top. (RIV 173.) Mr. Alhsari testified that he could see petitioner's eyes. (RIV 173.) Once petitioner exited the store, Mr. Alhsari stood up and hit the store's emergency button. (RIV 175.) Mr. Alhsari then called 911. (RIV 175.)

The State played the 911 call for the jury. (RIV 176-83.) During the call, Mr. Alhsari described petitioner as a black male, wearing a black hood and a mask. (RIV 177-78.) Mr. Alhsari indicated that the black male was dark skinned, about five feet, seven inches or five feet, eight inches tall, and weighed about 160 pounds. (RIV 179.) Mr. Alhsari indicated that he did not know what color pants petitioner wore, but stated that petitioner wore a black jacket. (RIV 179-80.) During the call, another customer, Willie Cook, stated that petitioner was wearing black jeans. (RIV 181-82.) Mr. Alhsari indicated that the robber was 22 or 23. (RIV 183.) Mr. Alhsari then told the operator that he knew the robber because he was a regular customer. (RIV 183.)

Thereafter, Mr. Alhsari identified petitioner as the person who robbed the store. (RIV 184.) Mr. Alhsari recognized petitioner's voice because petitioner came into the store and Mr. Alhsari spoke to petitioner every day. (RIV 184-85.) Mr. Alhsari indicated that had been coming to the store regularly for approximately a year and a half. (RIV 184-85.) Petitioner came to the store with his girlfriend who was pregnant. (RIV 185.) Mr. Alhsari identified petitioner in a photo from a photospread. (RIV 188-89.) Mr. Alhsari identified the gloves worn in the robbery which were also introduced into evidence. (RIV 190.)

Mr. Alhsari identified also identified petitioner and his girlfriend in the cellular phone images. (RIV 232.) Mr. Alhsari indicated that he knew petitioner by his nickname, which was "Dooley." Mr. Alhsari also indicated that petitioner looked the same in the photographs as he did on the day of the robbery. (RIV 232.) Mr. Alhsari also indicated that the money appeared in the photographs to be folded in the same way he had it folded in the box. (RIV 232). Mr. Alhsari indicated that the gun depicted in two cellular phone images was similar to the gun used in the robbery. (RIV 233.)

William Cook testified that he went to the store on the morning of January 24, 2008. (RIV 238.) When he approached the

store, he saw a man wearing dark clothes running from the store with his head down. (RIV 239.) The man ran up the street, through the field and jump the six foot fence to the park. (RIV 239.) Mr. Cook heard that the store had just been robbed. (RIV 239-40.)

Keith Seay testified that he went to the store on the morning of January 24, 2008. (RIV 242-43.) That morning, he walked through the park to get to the store. (RIV 243.) Seay stated that he knew petitioner by the name "Dooley." (RIV 244.) On the morning of the robbery, Mr. Seay saw petitioner coming through the park. (RIV 244-45.) Mr. Seay saw petitioner jump the fence into the park. (RIV 245.) When petitioner passed Mr. Seay, he and Dooley exchanged a fist bump. (RIV 245.) Petitioner had on gloves, which were gray and black with writing on them, a dark jacket and dark pants. (RIV 246.) Petitioner did not appear to be in a hurry. (RIV 246.) Seay indicated that the gloves in evidence resembled the gloves petitioner wore that day. (RIV 247.) When Mr. Seay turned around as he walked to the store, petitioner no longer had on the gloves. (RIV 248.) Petitioner had passed a trash can at that point. (RIV 248.)

When Mr. Seay arrived at the store, the police pulled up. (RIV 249.) Mr. Seay told Mr. Alhsari to police were there.

(RIV 249.) At that time, Mr. Alhsari told Mr. Seay that Dooley had just robbed him. (RIV 249.) Mr. Seay told police that he had just seen petitioner in the park. (RIV 249.) Mr. Seay identified the trash can that petitioner had walked past in the park. (RIV 250). Mr. Seay participated in a photospread. (RIV 251-52). Mr. Seay wrote "it look like him" on petitioner's picture. (RIV 252.) Mr. Seay wrote that because he was used to seeing him look differently than petitioner did in the photograph. (RIV 252.)

Officer Tutson of the Jacksonville County Sheriff's Office responded to the Price Right Food Store on January 24, within two to three minutes of Mr. Alhsari's 911 call. (RIV 264-65.) Officer Borntraeger also responded to the scene. (RIV 265.) Officer Tutson located that a pair of gloves in a trash (RIV 266.) Officer Tutson secured the trash can to be certain that the items in the trash can were not disturbed. (RIV 266.) After twenty-five to thirty minutes, a crime scene technician arrived. (RIV 267.) Officer Tutson identified the gloves in evidence as the gloves he had seen in the trash can. (RIV 267.) When he first arrived, Officer Tutson testified that he spoke with Mr. Alhsari. (RIV 269.) Mr. Alhsari told him that the man who robbed him sounded familiar, but he could not give him a name at that time. (RIV 269.)

Det. Lisa Kicklighter was the evidence technician who responded to the scene. (RIV 273.) When she arrived, Det. Kicklighter met with Officer Borntraeger. She learned about the robbery and that the store's surveillance camera recorded the robbery. (RIV 275.) Det. Kicklighter photographed the scene and reviewed the surveillance footage. (RIV 275.) Det. Kicklighter also photographed the trash can where the gloves were found, along with scuff marks in the grass indicating that someone had jumped over a fence. (RIV 277-78.) Det. Kicklighter collected the gloves and placed them in a dryer vault. (RIV 279.)

Officer Ike Brown with the Jacksonville County Sheriff's Office responded to the store. (RIV 282-84.) When he arrived at the scene, Officer Tutson told him that a witness had provided the name Dooley as a suspect. (RIV 284.) Officer Brown recognized Dooley as being an individual he knew. Officer Brown learned Dooley's real name by speaking with Dooley's mother. (RIV 285.) Officer Brown identified the petitioner as Dooley. (RIV 286.) Officer Brown asked petitioner's mother to call petitioner. Officer Brown then spoke with petitioner over the phone. Officer Brown asked petitioner to come in to speak with him. (RIV 287.) Two weeks later, petitioner finally met with Officer Brown after missing several other appointments.

(RIV 287-88.) Officer Brown arrested petitioner and patted petitioner down before placing him into his patrol car. (RIV 288.) During the pat down, Officer Brown found a cellular phone in petitioner's pocket. (RIV 288.) Officer Brown looked at the phone to see if the phone was the same phone petitioner had been calling him from, and to see if petitioner had any photographs might be evidence of the crime. (RIV 288.) Officer Brown found photographs of petitioner holding large amounts of cash, a gun and jewelry. (RIV 288-89.) Officer Brown stated that the photos had all been taken within a few days following the robbery. (RIV 290-92.)

Det. Darion Green responded to the robbery. (RIV 313-15.)

Det. Green described the photospread conducted with Mr. Alhsari.

Mr. Alhsari identified petitioner's photo. (RV 319-22.) Det.

Green also described the photospread he showed to Mr. Seay from which Mr. Seay identified petitioner. (RV 322-24.) Det. Green collected DNA from petitioner. (RV 325-26.)

Shana Mills, a DNA analyst, testified that she compared the DNA from petitioner's sample to DNA obtained from the gloves. (RV 342.) Petitioner could not be excluded as a contributor to the mixture of DNA found in either glove. (RV 345.) The results indicated that the gloves contained DNA from at least two individuals, at least one of whom was male. (RV 345.)

Thus, the overwhelming nature of the evidence and the identifications made in this case establish that the admission and limited usage of the photographs make the error, if any, harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. There is no reasonable possibility that the admission of the photographs had any effect on the jury's verdict in this case. This is a case involving substantial physical evidence that tied petitioner to the crime along with witness identifications from witnesses who knew the petitioner prior to the commission of the crime.

CONCLUSION

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